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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

AUSTIN DIVISION

AMERICAN STEWARDS OF
LIBERTY, et al.

Plaintiffs,

v.

UNITED STATES FISH & WILDLIFE
SERVICE, et al.

Defendants.

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

No. 1:15-cv-01174-LY

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

This Second Amended Complaint amends, restates, and supplements Plaintiffs’ Original

Complaint, which was filed by Plaintiffs on December 1, 2015 (“Original Complaint”). Doc.

No. 1. Therefore, any reference to the Original Complaint is not necessary for the resolution of

this case.

I. INTRODUCTION

1. It is in the interest of all Americans that federal agencies efficiently utilize the

limited resources provided to them by taxpayers, and that they exercise their regulatory authority

in a manner that comports with both common sense and the law. With regard to the Bone Cave

harvestman (Texella reyesi) and the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C.

§§ 1531–1543, Defendants have done neither of these things. Defendants now twice have

erroneously concluded that the petition submitted by Kathryn Heidemann, Charles & Cheryl

Shell, Walter Sidney Shell Management Trust, American Stewards of Liberty, and Steven W.

Carothers (collectively, “Petitioners”) under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A) to delist the Texella

reyesi from the list of threatened species under the ESA did not present substantial scientific

information indicating that delisting may be warranted. 82 Fed. Reg. 20,861 (May 7, 2017)

(hereinafter, the “2017 Negative Finding”); see also 80 Fed. Reg. 30,990 (June 1, 2015)
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(hereinafter, the “2015 Negative Finding”). A true and correct copy of the June 1, 2015 Texella

reyesi Delisting Petition, with its associated exhibits (the “Delisting Petition”), is attached as

Exhibit A and incorporated by reference into this Complaint.

2. Plaintiffs request that this Court order, declare, and adjudge that Defendants have

violated the ESA and the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), §§ 5 U.S.C. 551–559, and that

the Court set aside the 2017 Negative Finding. This action also seeks declaratory and injunctive

relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–2202.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (actions

arising under the laws of the United States); 5 U.S.C. §§ 702–703 (actions arising under the

APA); and 16 U.S.C. §§ 1533(b)(3)(C)(ii), 1540(c) (actions arising under the ESA).

4. Defendants made the 2017 Negative Finding using an erroneous and improper

standard, and failing to properly consider whether an error was made during the original decision

to list. The ESA expressly provides that a negative 90-day finding may be challenged in federal

court. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(C)(ii). An actual controversy exists therefore between the parties

within the meaning of the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201(a), 2202.

5. On September 14, 2015, out of an abundance of caution and in the hopes of

spurring Defendants to reconsider their legally untenable and scientifically unjustified position,

Plaintiff American Stewards of Liberty provided Defendants notice of its intent to file this action

on behalf of itself and other interested parties, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2)(C). A true and

correct copy of the 60-Day Notice of Intent to Bring a Citizen Suit pursuant to 16 U.S.C.

§ 1540(g), is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated by reference into this Complaint.

This notice was provided to Defendants despite the fact that no notice is required in order to

bring suit under the APA and under section 4(b)(3)(C)(ii) of the ESA. 16 U.S.C.

§ 1533(b)(3)(C)(ii).
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6. Venue in this judicial district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1), because a

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this district and in

the State of Texas.

III. PARTIES

7. Plaintiff American Stewards of Liberty supports the protection of private property

rights, fiscal responsibility, and environmental policy based upon sound principles of science, as

well as cost-effective solutions to issues associated with property management. American

Stewards of Liberty is a charitable organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue

Code. Its members are primarily comprised of farming and ranching families who have been

stewards of the land for generations. American Stewards of Liberty supports, as part of its

mission: the study and research of issues that affect the protection of property rights; education

of the public through seminars, publications, and programs regarding the protection of property

rights; and initiation of legal proceedings to protect property rights. American Stewards of

Liberty advocates for a balanced approach to environmental regulation with respect to the

administration of the ESA and property rights. American Stewards of Liberty is concerned that

the continued listing of Texella reyesi is both scientifically unjustified and imposes significant

and unnecessary economic and regulatory costs upon affected property owners and the regulated

public. Furthermore, public and private resources expended as a consequence of the continued

listing of the species are being diverted from other activities, such as protecting species actually

at risk of extinction and providing basic public goods to American citizens. Members of the

American Stewards of Liberty own property within the areas designated as Texella reyesi’s

habitat, and some members’ property actually contains occupied Texella reyesi habitat. One

such member of the American Stewards of Liberty, John P. Yearwood, has occupied Texella

reyesi habitat on his property in Williamson County, Texas, confirmed in a survey performed by

properly licensed biologists hired by the Texas Department of Transportation. Mr. Yearwood

now may not use the portions of his land that are confirmed as Texella reyesi habitat without

either risking an enforcement action by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (“USFWS”) or a third
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party, incurring the expense of seeking an incidental take permit from the USFWS, or incurring

the expense of complying with state and local measures USFWS has deemed sufficient to avoid

take of Texella reyesi. American Stewards of Liberty’s members whose property contains

Texella reyesi occupied habitat or likely occupied habitat face the same choices that Mr.

Yearwood faces – risking take stemming from the use and enjoyment of their property, incurring

the cost of seeking an incidental take permit, or incurring the expense of complying with

methods that the USFWS has deemed sufficient to avoid take. This choice harms the liberty and

economic interests of the affected members of the American Stewards of Liberty by forcing them

to choose between incurring potentially significant costs of the actions described above or

essentially abandoning their property. Each American Stewards of Liberty member whose

liberty and economic interests are harmed by the continued listing resides within the State of

Texas. If Defendants were enjoined from violating the ESA and APA, the harm to the interests

of the affected American Stewards of Liberty members caused by Defendants’ actions would

likely be eliminated, thereby redressing their economic injuries. This is because Defendants

likely would proceed with delisting Texella reyesi.

8. Plaintiffs Charles and Cheryl Shell reside in Round Rock, Texas. Plaintiffs

Charles and Cheryl Shell own property in Jarrell, Texas and Florence, Texas. Plaintiffs’

property falls within the identified range of Texella reyesi habitat in Williamson and Travis

Counties, Texas. There are karst formations on Plaintiffs’ property that are likely occupied by

Texella reyesi. Plaintiffs’ property has been directly harmed by the listing of Texella reyesi

through the choice they must face regarding use of their land in the vicinity of karst formations –

due to Texella reyesi’ s endangered status, if Plaintiffs choose to make use of their land in the

vicinity of karst formations, they must either seek an incidental take permit from the USFWS,

bear the expense of complying with state and local plans deemed sufficient to avoid take, or risk

an enforcement action by USFWS or third parties should an impermissible take occur. Plaintiffs

Charles and Cheryl Shell are members of the American Stewards of Liberty. If Defendants were

enjoined from violating the ESA and APA, the harm to the interests of Plaintiffs Charles and
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Cheryl Shell caused by Defendants’ actions would likely be eliminated, thereby redressing their

economic injuries. This is because Defendants likely would proceed with delisting Texella

reyesi.

9. Plaintiff Walter Sidney Shell Management Trust is located in Florence, Texas.

Plaintiff owns property in Florence, Texas, which is in Williamson County. Plaintiff’s property

occurs within the identified range of occupied habitat for Texella reyesi and contains karst

formations that may be occupied by Texella reyesi. Plaintiff’s property has been directly harmed

by the listing of Texella reyesi by forcing Plaintiff, should Plaintiff seek to use any of its land in

the vicinity of karst formations, to choose between risking an enforcement action by USFWS or

a private party if any impermissible take of Texella reyesi should occur, or bearing the expense

of either seeking an incidental take permit from USFWS or complying with state and local

measures USFWS has determined are sufficient to avoid take. The trustee of the Walter Sidney

Shell Management Trust, Charles Shell, is a member of the American Stewards of Liberty.

If Defendants were enjoined from violating the ESA and APA, the harm to the interests of

Plaintiff Walter Sidney Shell Management Trust caused by Defendants’ actions would likely be

eliminated, thereby redressing its economic injuries. This is because Defendants would likely

proceed with delisting Texella reyesi.

10. Plaintiff Kathryn Heidemann resides in Georgetown, Texas. Plaintiff Heidemann

owns property in Georgetown, Texas, which is in Williamson County, within the area identified

as possessing Texella reyesi habitat. Plaintiff Heidemann is a long-time member of American

Stewards of Liberty and was one of the parties who petitioned for delisting of Texella reyesi.

Plaintiff’s property contains karst formations that may be occupied by Texella reyesi. Plaintiff’s

property has been directly harmed by the listing of Texella reyesi because if she wishes to use

portions of her property in the vicinity of karst formations, she must now either risk an

enforcement action against her by USFWS or a private party should an impermissible take occur,

or bear the expense of either seeking an incidental take permit from USFWS or the expense of

compliance with the state or local measures that have been approved as avoiding take. If
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Defendants were enjoined from violating the ESA and APA, the harm to the interests of Plaintiff

Heidemann caused by Defendants’ actions would likely be eliminated, thereby redressing her

economic injuries. This is because Defendants likely would proceed with delisting Texella

reyesi.

11. Plaintiff Robert V. Harrison, Sr. resides in Georgetown, Texas. Plaintiff Harrison

owns property along Lake Georgetown in Williamson County, Texas, within the area identified

as possessing Texella reyesi occupied karst formations. Karst formations occur on Plaintiff

Harrison’s property that may be occupied by Texella reyesi. Plaintiff’s property has been

directly harmed by the listing of Texella reyesi because if he would like to make use of his

property in the vicinity of the karst formations occurring on his land, he must now choose

between risking an enforcement action against him by USFWS or a private party should an

impermissible take occur, bearing the cost of seeking an incidental take permit from the USFWS,

or bearing the cost of compliance with state and/or local measures that have been approved by

USFWS as avoiding take. Plaintiff Harrison is a member of the American Stewards of Liberty.

If Defendants were enjoined from violating the ESA and APA, the harm to the interests of

Plaintiff Harrison caused by Defendants’ actions would likely be eliminated, thereby redressing

his economic injuries. This is because Defendants likely would proceed with delisting Texella

reyesi.

12. Defendant Department of the Interior is an agency of the United States charged

with administering the ESA for non-marine species.

13. Defendant the Honorable Ryan Zinke (hereafter, “Secretary”) is being sued in his

official capacity as Secretary of the United States Department of the Interior. Congress delegates

to the Secretary certain responsibilities for the Department of the Interior’s implementation and

administration of the ESA. The Secretary’s responsibilities include administering the ESA for

the benefit of species and the public. The Secretary is required to ensure proper responses to

petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A) to delist species.
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14. Defendant USFWS is an agency within the Department of the Interior which has

the delegated responsibilities of administering and implementing the ESA, including provisions

concerning responses to petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A) to delist species.

15. Defendant Jim Kurth (hereafter, “Director”) is being sued in his official capacity

as Acting Director of the USFWS. The Secretary delegates most of his ESA authority to the

Director, who is responsible for responses to petitions filed under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A) to

delist species.

16. Defendant Benjamin Tuggle is being sued in his official capacity as the Southwest

Regional Director (hereafter, “Regional Director”) of the USFWS. The Director delegates most

of his authority under the ESA to the Regional Director. The Regional Director is responsible

for responding to petitions filed in the Southwest Region under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A) to

delist species.

IV. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS AND STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

17. Congress enacted the ESA “to provide a program for the conservation of . . .

endangered species and threatened species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b).

18. As part of the ESA, Defendants have the statutory authority to list a species as

either endangered or threatened when specific criteria are met. See 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(1). The

term “species” includes “any subspecies of fish or wildlife or plants, and any distinct population

segment of any species of vertebrate fish or wildlife.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(16).

19. Defendants are required to make listing determinations “solely on the basis of the

best scientific and commercial data available to [them] after conducting a review of the status of

the species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(1)(A).

20. “To the maximum extent practicable, within 90 days after receiving the petition of

an interested person . . . to remove a species from” the list of threatened and endangered species,

Defendants must “make a finding as to whether the petition presents substantial scientific or

commercial information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.” 16 U.S.C.

§ 1533(b)(3)(A).
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21. USFWS regulations define “substantial information” as “that amount of

information that would lead a reasonable person to believe that the measure proposed in the

petition may be warranted.” 50 C.F.R. § 424.14(b)(1).

22. Should USFWS find that the petition presents substantial scientific or commercial

information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted, then, within 12 months after

receiving a petition, Defendants must “promptly commence a review of the status of the species

concerned,” and “promptly publish each finding made under this subparagraph in the Federal

Register.” 16 U.S.C. §§ 1533(b)(3)(A)–(B). This “12-month” review is a more thorough review

than the 90-day finding and is not constrained to the petition.

23. Every five years, independently of the process for citizen-submitted petitions, the

Secretary must conduct a status review of each listed species to determine whether a change in

the species’ listing status is warranted. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(c)(2)(A). On the basis of that so-called

Five-Year Status Review, the Secretary must determine whether any such species should—

(i) be removed from such list;

(ii) be changed in status from an endangered species to a threatened species;
or

(iii) be changed in status from a threatened species to an endangered species.

Id. § 1533(c)(2)(B).

24. A species may be delisted on the basis of extinction, recovery, or because the

original data for classification were in error. 50 C.F.R. § 424.11(d).

25. In 1988, USFWS made largely unsupported assumptions as to Texella reyesi’s

rarity and listed the species as endangered. 53 Fed. Reg. 36,029 (Sept. 16, 1988). Since Texella

reyesi’s listing in 1988, the number of caves identified as inhabited by Texella reyesi has

increased more than thirty-fold, from five to 172. As scientists gather additional data, the rarity

theorized by the USFWS in 1988 has been shown to be in error. Furthermore, significant

conservation measures are in place, with at least 94 of the sites occupied by Texella reyesi (or 55

percent of the total known sites) currently protected in preserves, parks, or other open spaces.
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26. Biologists continue to discover new occupied sites, a trend likely to continue as

more areas are explored and more caves are discovered. New information indicates that Texella

reyesi inhabits not just caves that humans can access, but tiny cracks and voids of all sizes in the

limestone substrate of Travis and Williamson counties north of the Colorado River. This same

information indicates that development activities on the surface are not as detrimental to Texella

reyesi as the USFWS originally assumed.

27. Texella reyesi lives successfully in the Inner Space Caverns, a heavily-visited

recreational attraction located under an Interstate Highway, as well as in dozens of other well-

known caves surrounded by development. In addition, state and local ordinances already protect

most caves in Travis and Williamson counties (e.g., City of Austin Environmental Criteria

Manual, City of Georgetown Resolution No. 122013-C, Texas Commission on Environmental

Quality's (“TCEQ”) Edwards Aquifer Rules, and the TCEQ Texas Pollution Discharge

Elimination System).

28. Since listing Texella reyesi over 27 years ago, the USFWS assumed that surface

disturbance above a void or cave caused destruction of the subsurface ecosystem. During all of

the intervening years, the USFWS required and currently requires that development be severely

restricted in the vicinity of caves occupied by Texella reyesi. In fact, under the Williamson

County Regional Habitat Conservation Plan, landowners must pay up to $400,000 to develop

within 50 feet of an occupied cave footprint and $10,000 an acre to develop within 50 feet to 375

feet of an occupied cave footprint. These measures have been approved by USFWS as sufficient

to compensate for any take that may occur.

29. Dozens of projects under active construction, including important public works

projects, have been put on hold, sometimes for weeks, with contractors and equipment idled, so

that biologists could conduct surveys for Texella reyesi and coordinate with USFWS staff.
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V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS REGARDING THE BONE CAVE HARVESTMAN
(TEXELLA REYESI) REGULATORY STATUS AND ITS IMPACT ON
PLAINTIFFS AND THE STATE OF TEXAS

30. On September 6, 1988, the USFWS published a final rule to list as endangered

five species of karst invertebrates known to occur only in Travis and Williamson counties,

Texas. 53 Fed. Reg. 36,029 (Sept. 16, 1988) (“Final Listing Rule”). This Final Listing Rule,

which became effective on the date of publication, extended ESA protections to the Bee Creek

Cave harvestman (Texella reddelli), among other karst invertebrates.

31. In support of the 1988 final listing rule, the USFWS relied on only seven

referenced data sources to substantiate the listing of Texella reddelli and the other species. Of

these sources, only one (Goodnight & Goodnight 1967) had any reference specific to Texella

reddelli. In the final rule, Texella reddelli was confirmed from only five caves and was believed

to exist, but was not confirmed, in a sixth. The known range of the species extended a distance

of approximately 21 miles along the edge of the Edwards Plateau (75 square miles). The

USFWS decision to list Texella reddelli (later corrected to include both Texella reddelli and

Texella reyesi) was based on very limited information about the species (including basic

taxonomy) and was prompted by concerns about potential adverse effects of development

activities at a time when the link between such activities and actual effects on the species was

unknown.

32. In response to a published taxonomic study by Ubick and Briggs in 1992, the

USFWS determined in 1993 that Texella reddelli was actually comprised of two distinct species.

58 Fed. Reg. 43,818 (Aug. 18, 1993). The newly identified species, the Bone Cave harvestman

(Texella reyesi), was afforded the same protections under the ESA as Texella reddelli. The

USFWS published a “technical correction,” which states that “both of these species continue to

face the same general threats identified in the original listing of the Bee Creek Cave harvestman

[Texella reddelli].” 58 Fed. Reg. 43,818 (Aug. 18, 1993) (“Technical Correction”). The

USFWS acknowledged that by “including newly discovered localities” of the Texella reyesi, the

Case 1:15-cv-01174-LY   Document 125   Filed 08/15/17   Page 10 of 29



Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint Page 11
Case No. 1:15-cv-01174-LY

known range of the species expanded from 21 miles to 31 miles along the edge of the Edwards

Plateau.

33. In the Technical Correction, the omission of any assessment of available

substantive scientific data beyond Ubick and Briggs (1992) was an oversight of substantial

significance to the actual appropriateness of the listing. At the time the final rule was published,

progress was well underway toward developing the 1994 Endangered Karst Invertebrates (Travis

and Williamson counties, Texas) Recovery Plan (“1994 Recovery Plan”). The 1994 Recovery

Plan (which addresses Texella reyesi and six other ESA-listed karst invertebrates) includes an

extensive nine-page list of references, including 32 publications and reports relevant to Texella

reyesi. None of these sources were explicitly considered in the Technical Correction extending

protections of the ESA to Texella reyesi. This means that at the time of the 1993 Technical

Correction, a substantial body of new information was available to the USFWS that was not

considered or analyzed in the Technical Correction, demonstrating that the decision to list

Texella reyesi was not based on the best available scientific data available at the time.

34. Texella reyesi remains listed as an endangered species, creating significant costs

for people and businesses throughout Williamson and Travis counties, Texas, including

Plaintiffs.

35. In 2009, fifteen years after the release of the 1994 Recovery Plan, the USFWS

completed a 5-year status review of Texella reyesi (“Five-Year Review”) and, in spite of new

data documenting the increased number of protected locations for the species, arbitrarily

determined that no change in listing status was warranted. The 2009 status review does not

evaluate any of the ESA listing factors and provides no analysis of any new scientific or

commercial data in relation to those factors. While it does confirm that, as of 2009, there were

168 known occupied caves containing Texella reyesi distributed across all Karst Fauna Regions

("KFRs"), a substantial increase beyond those known at the time of the 1994 Recovery Plan and

a 30-fold increase over those known at the time of listing, the Five-Year Review did not evaluate

the implications of these additional known sites for the species’ risk of extinction.
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36. The 1994 Recovery Plan states that KFRs can be subdivided into “karst fauna

areas” (“KFAs”) which are areas “known to support one or more locations of a listed species and

is distinct in that it acts as a system that is separated from other [KFAs] by geologic and

hydrologic features and/or processes that create barriers to the movement of water, contaminants,

and troglobitic fauna.” 1994 Recovery Plan at 87. The 1994 Recovery Plan also explains that

KFAs should be “far enough apart so that if a catastrophic event (for example, contamination of

the water supply, flooding, disease) were to destroy one of the areas, that event would not likely

destroy any other area occupied by that species.” Id. The Delisting Petition described four

official and 28 “de facto” KFAs recognized by USFWS in the Five-Year Review. Delisting

Petition at 24.

37. Because the best scientific or commercial information demonstrates that the

Texella reyesi is not an endangered species or subspecies, and because of the significant costs

associated with the regulatory status of Texella reyesi as an endangered species, certain of the

Plaintiffs and others (“Petitioners”) petitioned Defendants, under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A), to

remove Texella reyesi from the list of endangered species.

38. Since its listing in 1988, a significant amount of new scientific and commercial

information has become available, demonstrating not only that Texella reyesi is a distinct

species, but that Texella reyesi occurs in significantly more locations than originally believed.

Given the vastly increased number of known sites occupied by the species, many of which are

protected, the threats to the species are not of a magnitude or intensity likely to cause the

extinction of the species now or in the foreseeable future. The circumstances of Texella reyesi

are similar to those in the examples below, where the consideration of new populations or

occupied sites prompted the USFWS to delist various species. Like the Utah Valvata snail

(described below), Texella reyesi possesses the ability to persist and thrive in conditions where

the USFWS assessment of threats normally indicates a decline or extirpation. These examples

support the conclusion that the protections of the ESA are not warranted for Texella reyesi since
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the existence or magnitude of threats to the species, or both, do not support a conclusion that the

species is at risk of extinction now or in the foreseeable future.

Pine Barrens treefrog (Hyla andersonii) (48 Fed. Reg. 52,740) – In 1983, the

Florida population of the Pine Barrens treefrog was delisted due to a finding that

the original data was in error. The USFWS stated, “recent evidence indicates that

the species is much more widely distributed than originally known.” At the time

of the listing, there were only seven known localities of this species in Florida,

and the predominant threat was cited as “the present or threatened modification,

or curtailment of its habitat or range.” By 1979, several more populations were

identified, and by 1980 there were over 150 confirmed occupied locations for the

species (an increase of at least 2,042%). The final rule noted that while the

overall distribution of the species was relatively limited, the likelihood of

discovering more known localities in consideration with the additional new sites

discovered indicated that “the Florida population is relatively secure for the

immediate future.”

Rydberg Milk-Vetch (Astragalus perianus) (54 Fed. Reg. 37,911) – In 1989,

the Rydberg milk-vetch was delisted on the basis of erroneous data. At the time

when this species was listed, there was only one known locality. The subsequent

delisting was based on the discovery of 11 additional localities over nine years of

research (an increase of 1,100%). This delisting was supported by the existence

of regulatory mechanisms that minimized the impacts of the threats identified in

the initial listing factors.

McKittrick pennyroyal (Hedeoma apiculatum) (58 Fed. Reg. 49,244) – In

1993, the McKittrick pennyroyal was delisted because of “the number of newly

discovered populations and the remote and inaccessible nature of the habitat.”

This species was known from only two counties at the time of listing and

continues to be only known from two counties, one each in Texas and New
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Mexico. At the time of listing, there were seven known localities of the species.

At the time of delisting, there were 36 known populations of the species (an

increase of 414%). The USFWS determined that since this plant species occurs in

hard-to-reach habitats, it is likely that its distribution is even broader than the

confirmed locations and that its naturally preferred habitat limits the likelihood of

human-related impacts.

Utah (Desert) Valvata snail (Valvata utahensis) (75 Fed. Reg 52,272) – In

2010, the Utah Valvata snail was delisted on the basis of new information. At the

time of listing in 1992, the species was believed to occur in only “a few springs

and mainstem Snake River sites” at isolated points along the Snake River. The

species was delisted after data showed that the species range extended an

additional 122 miles beyond the initially identified range (an increase in the

known range of 118.5%). The USFWS determined that due to the increased

range of the species, the listing factors would not contribute to the likelihood of

the species being threatened with extinction in the foreseeable future. Among the

threats discussed, impacts to its habitat from agricultural and industrial purposes

were excluded as threats because “the species persists in these varied mainstem

Snake River systems, including impounded reservoir habitats.” 75 Fed. Reg. at

52,280. This distinction is critical because, despite the continued presence of

previously perceived threats, the proven ability of the species to continue to thrive

in conditions otherwise considered a threat supported delisting.

Tennessee cave beetles (80 Fed. Reg. 60,834) – Very recently, the USFWS

published a “Notice of 12-Month Petition Findings” concluding that listing six

cave-dwelling beetle species was not warranted. The beetles vary in rarity—

2013–2015 survey results indicated that four of the beetle species are known from

only one or two locations, and the most “plentiful” of the six beetle species was

known to occur in potentially five caves. The USFWS also identified water
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quality impacts, erosion resulting construction, livestock operations, human

visitation of caves, curtailment of organic materials to caves, excavation of cave

habitats, and predation as stressors to the beetle species. Despite their apparent

rarity and the noted stressors, the USFWS concluded that the actual impacts from

potential stressors to the beetles appear to be minimal. In reaching its conclusion,

the USFWS stated that “[t]he recent evidence of continued persistence of these

species, in conjunction with the lack of evidence that stressors are negatively

affecting these cave beetles, lead us to conclude that these species are more stable

than previously thought.”

39. The Delisting Petition documents more than 165 identified localities at which

Texella reyesi occurs in addition to those known at the time of listing (a total of 172), with an

increase in known range from 75 square miles to 148 square miles. The Delisting Petition also

provides data demonstrating that Texella reyesi’s resilience to human activities is stronger than

the USFWS had originally determined at the time of listing. The Delisting Petition includes

scientific support showing:

Known localities have increased from five or six at the time of listing to 172

today.

Significant conservation is in place with at least 94 total known localities (55

percent of the total known localities) currently protected in preserves, parks, or

other open spaces. There are more than an order of magnitude more protected

localities than total known localities at the time of the listing.

Regulatory protections are afforded to most caves in Travis and Williamson

counties via state laws and regulations and local ordinances. These protections

are either specific to Texella reyesi or have a collateral protective effect for

Texella reyesi.

Biologists continue to discover new, occupied localities, a trend likely to continue

as more areas are explored and more caves are discovered. The increase in the
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number of known caves and KFAs occupied by Texella reyesi provide additional

assurance that a catastrophic event in one area will not threaten the species as a

whole. As USFWS itself has recognized repeatedly, including in the 1994

Recovery Plan, the species occurs in multiple geographic units that are isolated

from one another by geologic and hydrologic formations, among other features.

Moreover, the discovery of so many more occupied caves means that there likely

is much more variation in known occupied habitats (e.g., they occupy deeper

caves or forested areas) so that even ubiquitous threats will not necessarily impact

the species in the same way across its range. The likely variation in habitat

contributes to the resiliency of the species as a whole.

40. The Delisting Petition also contains a review of the ESA listing factors and

supports the idea that surface development activities may not result in significant loss or

degradation of the subsurface habitat for Texella reyesi as originally thought, by providing

several examples, including the Inner Space Caverns, which demonstrate that the species can

persist in caves with frequent human visitation and may be more tolerant of related habitat

modifications than originally believed. Additionally, recent studies suggest that red imported

fire ants (“fire ants”) may not present as significant or as lasting of a threat to the species as

originally believed. Moreover, the regulatory landscape includes a number of measures

contributing to the conservation of the species beyond the protections afforded by the ESA.

Finally, the use of small voids, or “mesocaverns,” within the geologic formations known to

support occupied caves mitigates the potential threat of climate change.

41. The Delisting Petition concludes that delisting Texella reyesi is warranted because

the listing was clearly in error as to the perceived rarity and known extent of Texella reyesi and

on the basis of both: (1) significant conservation and regulatory efforts protective of the species;

and (2) information and analysis indicating the existence and/or magnitude of previously

identified threats do not support a conclusion that the species is at risk of extinction now or in the

foreseeable future.
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42. On April 15, 2015, over 10 months after the Plaintiffs submitted the Delisting

Petition, rather than providing a finding on the Delisting Petition, the USFWS announced that it

would be conducting a new five-year review of Texella reyesi under the process set forth in 50

C.F.R. § 424.21. 80 Fed. Reg. 20,241 (Apr. 15, 2015).

43. Despite the scientific support set forth in the Delisting Petition and included in the

approximately 63 reference materials attached thereto, on June 1, 2015, a full year after the

Plaintiff submitted the Delisting Petition, the USFWS announced its 2015 Negative Finding,

concluding that the Delisting Petition did not present substantial information indicating that the

petitioned action may be warranted. 80 Fed. Reg. 30,990. In making its 2015 Negative Finding,

Defendants wholly failed to analyze the original error in classification made in the 1988 listing

and only briefly noted the technical correction that was required to actually list Texella reyesi

due to the original listing’s taxonomic error. 80 Fed. Reg. at 30,991.

44. Plaintiffs filed their original action challenging Defendants’ 2015 Negative

Finding on December 15, 2015. Doc. No. 1 (the “Original Complaint”); see also Amended

Complaint, filed June 28, 2016 (“Amended Complaint”). Doc. No. 24.

45. In the course of the Original Complaint, on September 29, 2916, Defendants filed

with this Court the Administrative Record, which showed plainly that in making their 2015

Negative Finding, Defendants failed to consider 57 of the 63 supportive documents Petitioners

provided with the Delisting Petition. Doc. No. 38.

46. On November 28, 2016, Defendants filed their Second Motion to Remand in

order for USFWS to consider reference materials provided by Petitioners in support of their

Petition. Doc. No. 55. In Defendants’ request for voluntary remand, Defendants admitted that

the Service failed to consider the scientific reference materials in making the 2015 Negative

Finding. Id.

47. On December 22, 2016, this Court granted Defendants’ Motion for Voluntary

Remand and ordered that Defendants publish in the Federal Register a new 90-day finding on the

Petition on or before March 31, 2017. Doc. No. 92.
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48. On March 27, 2017, Defendants filed a Motion to Extend Court Order Deadlines

and Motion to Expedite Consideration, in which Defendants requested 30 additional days to

publish a new 90-day finding on the Petition. Doc. No. 95. This Court granted Defendants’

Motion on March 28, 2017. Doc. No. 96.

49. On May 7, 2017, USFWS published in the Federal Register its 2017 Negative

Finding, in which the agency again found that the Delisting Petition did not present substantial

scientific information indicating that delisting Texella reyesi may be warranted. Like the 2015

Negative Finding, USFWS’ 2017 Negative Finding is unlawful, and for many of the same

reasons set forth in Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint.

50. Despite the 2017 Negative Finding’s correct recitation of the appropriate

standards for delisting a species pursuant to ESA section 4, the 2017 Negative Finding, like the

2015 Negative Finding is unlawful for at least the following reasons: (1) USFWS applied

erroneous legal standards; (2) USFWS failed to consider directly Petitioners’ claims that the

original listing of Texella reyesi was in error; and (3) USFWS applied a much higher evidentiary

standard to the Delisting Petition at the 90-day finding stage than the agency ever has satisfied

with regards to Texella reyesi population trends and threats.

51. With respect to the legal standards used by USFWS in its review of the Petition,

USFWS acknowledged that the standard for evaluating delisting petitions changed after the date

the Delisting Petition was submitted, pursuant to USFWS and National Marine Fisheries

Services’ publication of Revisions to the Regulations for Petitions, 50 C.F.R. Part 424, 81 Fed.

Reg. 66462 (September 27, 2016) (the “Revised Rules”). Nevertheless, USFWS indicated that it

reviewed the Delisting Petition pursuant to the agency’s petition review regulations in place at

the time the Delisting Petition was submitted. 82 Fed. Reg. 20,862.

52. Nevertheless, USFWS in fact applied the review standards established in the

Revised Rules, including applying a presumption that where a petition is submitted concerning a

species for which there has been prior, final agency action (e.g., 90-day not substantial findings,

negative 12-month findings, and final listings), the petition does not “provide substantial

Case 1:15-cv-01174-LY   Document 125   Filed 08/15/17   Page 18 of 29



Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint Page 19
Case No. 1:15-cv-01174-LY

information unless the petition provides new information or a new analysis not previously

considered in the final agency action” (the “New Information Standard”) 81 Fed. Reg. 66,474.

53. USFWS applied even the New Information Standard incorrectly. Despite the

requirement in the Revised Rules that the New Information Standard be applied only where there

has been prior, final agency action (such as those challengeable under the APA), USFWS

nevertheless dismissed information provided by Petitioners regarding fire ants because that

information allegedly was “considered” by USFWS in formulating the Bexar County Karst

Invertebrates Recovery Plan, which by its very terms and according to at least one Federal

Circuit Court is a mere guidance document. See Petition Review Form for Delisting a Listed

Entity, 90-Day Finding on a Petition to Delist the Bone Cave Harvestman (Texella reyesi)

Docket No. FWS-R2-ES-2017 (“Petition Review Form”); see also Bexar County Karst

Invertebrates Recovery Plan at iii; Fund for Animals, Inc. v. Rice, 85 F.3d 535, 547 (11th Cir.

1996).

54. The Delisting Petition addresses each of the five listing factors set forth in the

Final Listing Rule in light of the best currently available scientific and commercial data to show

conclusively that Texella reyesi should be removed from the list of endangered species because

the species has recovered.

The Final Listing Rule states that the primary threat to the species is “potential

loss of habitat owning to ongoing development activities.” 53 Fed. Reg. 36031

(Sept. 16, 1988). This is known as Listing Factor A. The Delisting Petition

points to studies and examples of species-occupied caves to demonstrate that the

threat of development is not as great as was thought at the time the species was

listed. Delisting Petition at 18-19.

The Final Listing Rule did not indicate that the species now known as Texella

reyesi was susceptible to Listing Factor B, overutilization for commercial,

recreational, scientific, or educational purposes.
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The Final Listing Rule indicated that the species now known as Texella reyesi

was susceptible under Listing Factor C, disease or predation, to predation by

exotic species. Other USFWS documents, such as the 1994 Recovery Plan

indicate this threat is due primarily to threats from fire ants. The Delisting

Petition points to studies post-dating the Final Listing Rule, 1994 Recovery Plan,

and other USFWS documents and to numerous examples indicating that Texella

reyesi is not susceptible to extinction from fire ants in the foreseeable future.

Delisting Petition at 23. The Delisting Petition also spends significant space

describing the exponential increase in both the number and range of Texella reyesi

locations found since the species was listed, including USFWS’ formal

recognition of four official KFAs and 28 “de facto” KFAs. Delisting Petition at

18-24. As described elsewhere in this Complaint, USFWS’ reliance on the

concepts of KFRs and KFAs to achieve downlisting of Texella reyesi

demonstrates that the agency itself does not believe that the species generally is

susceptible to demise across its range whether from fire ants or any of the other

listing factors. 1994 Recovery Plan at 87.

The Final Listing Rule found that Listing Factor D, inadequacy of existing

regulatory mechanisms, was a reason for placing the species now known as

Texella reyesi on the list of endangered species. The Delisting Petition pointed to

myriad regulations and extensive conservation currently in place for the species,

including protective rules put in place by the Texas Commission on

Environmental Quality, City of Georgetown Water Quality Management Plan,

City of Austin regulations. Delisting Petition at 23-29.

Neither the Final Listing Rule nor a previous negative 90-day finding on a

petition to delist Texella reyesi filed in 1993 (“1993 Delisting Petition”) cited as a

threat Listing Factor E, other natural or manmade factors affecting the species’

continued existence. See 59 Fed. Reg. 11755 (March 14, 1994). USFWS
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introduced climate change as a potential threat to Texella reyesi in its 2009 Bone

Cave Harvestman 5-Year Review (“Five-Year Review”), despite the agency’s

acknowledgment that no evidence shows a direct correlation between climate

change and species impacts, and the Petition Review Form published alongside

the 2017 Negative Finding continued to make bald speculations that climate

change will exacerbate threats to Texella reyesi. However, this claim was made

in large part because of the alleged limited range of the species and its small

population size. Petition Review Form. The Delisting Petition, however, provided

ample information describing the increase in both the species’ known range and

known locations.

55. In USFWS’s review of the information provided in the Delisting Petition, the

agency placed a higher evidentiary burden on the Delisting Petition than is permissible under

ESA section 4 and its implementing regulations. For example, while USFWS readily admits that

the agency has never known the population trends of Texella reyesi, the agency nevertheless

purports to require this information of Petitioners and rejects the Delisting Petition in large part

because detailed population trend analysis remains lacking. In so doing, USFWS wholly ignores

the fact that the number of known locations of the species at issue has increased by more than

3,000 percent from the Final Listing Rule, and unlawfully holds Petitioners to a higher

evidentiary standard at the 90-day finding stage than is appropriate. See, e.g., Ctr. For

Biological Diversity v. Kempthorne, 2008 WL 659822 at *9 (D. Ariz. March , 2008) (“…the

only question before [USFWS] when it conducts a 90-day review is whether the petitioned action

may be warranted, not whether it is warranted.”) Among the many deficiencies of the 2017

Negative Finding are:

Despite the Delisting Petition providing a list of beneficial regulatory mechanisms

put in place since the time Texella reyesi was listed, USFWS notes “…we do not

have enough information to indicate whether or not these State and local
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ordinances provide enough protection from all threats to the Bone Cave

harvestman.” Petition Review Form.

With respect to the Delisting Petition’s claims that cave setbacks required within

the City of Austin are adequate to protect Texella reyesi within the City, USFWS

indicates that the setbacks do not meet USFWS’ “preserve design criteria, does

not protect the cave cricket foraging area, and potentially does not include the

surface and subsurface drainage basins.” Plaintiffs note that USFWS preserve

design criteria are derived from a 2012 guidance document promulgated by

USFWS without public review or input. Karst Preserve Design Recommendations

(USFWS March 1, 2012). Further, USFWS provides no evidence that these

setbacks are inadequate to protect Texella reyesi; rather, like the majority of the

2017 Negative Finding, USFWS makes blanket, unsupported statements that the

Delisting Petition did not satisfy the 90-day finding threshold.

Incredibly, despite the Delisting Petition’s identification of 167 more known

localities of Texella reyesi than at the time of listing, including 94 locations

currently under conservation or protection, the 2017 Negative Finding dismisses

out of hand the number of new localities, instead stating that “Bone Cave

harvestman populations may be declining or threatened even though they are still

observed at a specific site” and, instead, focuses on the Delisting Petition’s

supposed failure to provide population trend analysis—analysis USFWS has

never itself been able to produce. Petition Review Form. USFWS offers

absolutely no evidence for its bald assertion that the species is in decline. Rather,

USFWS admits in the Petition Review Form that the agency “indicated in the

1994 90-day petition finding…that more time was needed to detect if the species

was declining; however, while more time has passed, we are still lacking adequate

data to conduct a trend analysis at most locations…” Id. It is clear that USFWS is

holding Petitioners to a double-standard: the Delisting Petition supposedly fails
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because it does not show that threats related to the species’ habitat or range are

reduced, yet USFWS has admitted for two decades that there is not enough

information to determine if the species is in decline at all.

56. In addition to the glaring inadequacies of the 2017 Negative Finding described

above, USFWS also fails entirely to consider that Texella reyesi was listed in error, as was

plainly alleged in the Delisting Petition. USFWS provided absolutely no analysis or discussion

concerning this basis for delisting; rather, USFWS did nothing more than literally check a box

indicating that the Delisting Petition raised “original data for classification in error” as a basis for

removing Texella reyesi from the List of Endangered and Threatened Wildlife. Petition Review

Form.

57. The USFWS approved survey procedures for Texella reyesi are costly and require

a landowner to retain a USFWS licensed biologist to conduct the surveys. Landowners whose

property falls within the known habitat range of Texella reyesi who are unsure of whether or not

their property contains occupied Texella reyesi habitat face an illusory choice. Such a property

owner may either simply abandon or avoid certain parts of their property containing karst

formations that may be occupied. Alternatively, if such a property owner wishes to use portions

of their property that include karst formations, the property owner may do so and risk an

enforcement action for civil or criminal penalties brought by either the USFWS or a third party if

any take of Texella reyesi occurs. If the property owner both wishes to use their property and to

avoid potential criminal or civil penalties, the property owner would face the economic choice

between complying with the costly measures approved by USFWS as avoiding take of Texella

reyesi (such as the TCEQ’s Optional Enhanced Measures for the Protection of Water Quality in

the Edwards Aquifer and Related Karst Features that May Be Habitat for Karst Dwelling

Invertebrates), or the costly and time-intensive proposition of applying to USFWS for an

incidental take permit.
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VI. SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS THAT SUPPORT DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

58. Plaintiffs hereby reallege and reassert the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1

through 57 as though fully set forth herein.

59. An actual and substantial controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants

over Defendants’ duty to comply with the ESA and APA in making a finding as to whether

Plaintiffs’ Texella reyesi Delisting Petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial

information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A).

Plaintiffs contend that Defendants have violated the ESA and APA by: (1) failing to recognize

the original classification error, as mandated by 50 C.F.R. § 424.11(d); (2) failing to limit their

review of scientific and commercial data to the Delisting Petition and instead improperly

attempting to gather additional, external information through a newly-announced five-year status

review;1 (3) applying the wrong evidentiary standard and failing to apply the “substantial

information” standard; and (4) ignoring and/or misconstruing scientific information.

60. This case is currently justiciable because Defendants have failed to follow the

ESA and its implementing regulations in determining whether Plaintiffs’ Texella reyesi Delisting

Petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial information indicating that the petitioned

action may be warranted.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A).

61. Declaratory and injunctive relief is, therefore, appropriate to resolve this

controversy.

1 Plaintiffs recognize that USFWS and the National Marine Fisheries Services (“NMFS”) have
proposed amendments to their listing regulations that would clarify that USFWS and NMFS may
consider, in addition to the petition, information that is readily available in the relevant agency’s
possession at the time it makes a 90-day finding. 81 Fed. Reg. 23,448, 23,451 (April 21, 2016).
The proposed amendments do not go so far as to expand the USFWS’ scope of review to include
the solicitation of additional information at the 90-day stage.
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VII. FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF (VIOLATION OF THE ESA, 16 U.S.C.
§ 1533(B)(3)(A), FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE ESA IN REACHING A 90-
DAY DETERMINATION ON A PETITION TO DELIST A SPECIES)

62. Plaintiffs reallege and reassert Paragraphs 1 through 61 as though set forth in full

in each and every allegation of this claim.

63. Defendants have a mandatory and nondiscretionary duty under the ESA to make a

finding on a petition to delist a species by indicating, to the maximum extent practicable, within

90 days whether the petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial information

indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A).

64. Although Defendants made a finding with regard to the Delisting Petition,

Defendants exceeded their regulatory authority in determining whether the Delisting Petition

presented substantial information that the petition action may be warranted by: (1) failing to

recognize or analyze the original classification error, as mandated by regulation; (2) failing to

limit review of the Delisting Petition and instead improperly attempting to gather additional,

external information through a subsequently-announced five-year status review; (3) applying the

wrong standard for whether a species warrants delisting and failing to apply the “substantial

information” standard; and (4) ignoring, misconstruing, and/or subverting scientific information

in violation of the ESA.

65. In so doing, the Defendants failed to apply the correct standards when making a

discretionary determination under the ESA, thereby failing to proceed in the manner required by

law, abusing their discretion, and making a determination that is both arbitrary and capricious.

VIII. SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF (VIOLATION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCEDURE ACT, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), UNLAWFUL AGENCY ACTION)

66. Plaintiffs reallege and reassert Paragraphs 1 through 65 as though set forth in full

in each and every allegation of this claim.

67. Defendants have a mandatory and nondiscretionary duty under the ESA to make a

finding on a petition to delist a species by indicating within 90 days, to the maximum extent

practicable, whether the petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial information

indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(A).
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68. Defendants exceeded their regulatory authority in determining whether the

Delisting Petition presented substantial information that the petitioned action may be warranted.

In making its 2017 Negative Finding, the USFWS was arbitrary, capricious, abused its discretion

and acted contrary to law by failing to follow its own guidelines, applying an improper standard

to determine whether delisting was warranted, and wholly failing to analyze whether the original

listing decision was made in error.

IX. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment from this Court as follows:

1. Declare Defendants violated the ESA and APA when determining whether the

Delisting Petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial information indicating that”

delisting of the Texella reyesi may be warranted;

2. Set aside the 2017 Negative Finding;

3. Direct Defendants to remedy the violations of the ESA and APA;

3. Retain jurisdiction over this matter until such time as Defendants have fully

complied with the ESA and APA;

4. Award Plaintiffs costs of litigation pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4) or, in the

alternative, 28 U.S.C. § 2412; and

5. Grant Plaintiff an award of any additional relief that the Court deems just and

proper under the circumstances of this case.

Dated: August 11, 2017 Respectfully submitted,

NOSSAMAN LLP

By: /s/ Paul S. Weiland
Paul S. Weiland (California Bar No. 237058)
Admitted to Practice in USDC, W.D. Tex.
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NOSSAMAN LLP
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Case 1:15-cv-01174-LY   Document 125   Filed 08/15/17   Page 26 of 29



Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint Page 27
Case No. 1:15-cv-01174-LY

Alan M. Glen (Texas Bar No. 08250100)
aglen@nossaman.com
Rebecca Hays Barho (TX Bar No. 24055641)
rbarho@nossaman.com
NOSSAMAN LLP
816 Congress Avenue, Suite 970
Austin, TX 78701
Telephone: 512.651.0660
Facsimile: 512.651.0770

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
American Stewards of Liberty; Charles and Cheryl
Shell; Walter Sidney Shell Management Trust;
Kathryn Heidemann; and Robert V. Harrison, Sr.
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